CMP POLICY & IMPLEMENTATION COMMITTEE MEETING

This meeting was conducted both remotely and in-person The public could view/comment through Pinelands Commission YouTube link:

www.youtube.com/c/PinelandsCommission
Richard J. Sullivan Center
15C Springfield Rd
New Lisbon, New Jersey 08064
March 28, 2025 – 9:30 a.m.

MINUTES

Members in Attendance: Alan W. Avery, Jr., Jerome Irick, Mark S. Lohbauer, Chair Laura E. Matos, Jessica Rittler Sanchez

Members Absent: Theresa Lettman, Douglas Wallner

Staff Present: Gina Berg, John Bunnell, Ernest Deman, April Field, Lori Friddell, Susan R. Grogan, Brad Lanute, Paul Leakan, Stacey P. Roth

Also in attendance: Alexis Franklin with the Governor's Authorities Unit (Zoom), Metthea Yepsen, New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), Nick Procopio, NJDEP

1. Call to Order

Chair Matos called the meeting to order at 9:31 a.m.

2. Adoption of minutes from the February 28, 2025 CMP Policy & Implementation Committee Meeting

Commissioner Lohbauer moved the adoption of the February 28, 2025 meeting minutes. Commissioner Irick seconded the motion.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez requested a change to the minutes reflecting her comments on page 8, to read "suggested" not "said".

Commissioner Lohbauer amended his motion to adopt the February 28, 2025 meeting minutes with revision to incorporate changes as provided by Commissioner Rittler Sanchez. Commissioner Irick seconded the motion. All Ayes. The motion passed.

3. Presentation by the Department of Environmental Protection: New Jersey Wetland Program Plan, 2023-2027

Attachment A to these minutes and posted on the Commission's website at the following address: https://www.nj.gov/pinelands/home/presentations/2025.3.18%20NJ%20WPP%20for%20Pinelands.pdf

Metthea Yepsen and Nick Procopio of the Division of Science and Research with the NJDEP presented the NJ Wetland Program Plan.

Ms. Yepsen outlined the reasons for the wetland program plan, what the plan entails, recent changes and examples of how the plan is being implemented. She explained that the plan satisfies a U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) requirement for receiving Wetland Program Development Grants and provides a tool for better communication and direction. She said wetlands cover 18% of the state and reviewed the many benefits of the wetland ecosystem services. Ms. Yepsen said the plan is a non-binding guidance document, with an overall goal to improve and protect the ecosystem services and functions provided by wetlands.

She presented the EPA's 2008 Core Element Framework and outlined the goals and the recommended four core elements, which include monitoring and assessment, restoration and protection, water quality standards and regulation. Ms. Yepsen identified recommended approaches to meet the framework, including public-private partnership, agency coordination, outreach and education.

She reviewed the three iterations of the NJ Wetland Program Plan, spanning 2013-2027 and their respective changes to the core elements. She noted that the current, third iteration, adds a seventh core element: environmental justice. She said the current plan (2023-2027) was written by an interdisciplinary team of scientists within the NJDEP, the Pinelands Commission, Highlands Commission and the NJ Sports and Exposition Authority (NJSEA). Ms. Yepsen presented the core element tables as they appear in the current plan and explained that each core element includes a goal, objectives, actions and activities. Ms. Yepsen said there are over 400 suggested activities with timelines. She reiterated the activities represent a wish list, not a requirement.

Ms. Yepsen presented an overview of the 2023-2027 NJ Wetland Program Plan and its seven core elements. She presented each core element's goal, objectives, actions and provided examples of related current activities as detailed in the attached presentation.

Attachment A to these minutes and posted on the Commission's website at the following address: https://www.nj.gov/pinelands/home/presentations/2025.3.18%20NJ%20WPP%20for%20Pinelands.pdf

She said NJDEP has been focusing on establishing a sustainable wetland monitoring network to research, monitor and document trends. She reviewed the success of the NJ Tidal Wetland Monitoring Network in partnerships, funding and the anticipated release of the database and website. She explained the slower progress in the NJ Freshwater (non-tidal) Wetlands Monitoring Network as they are seeking funding and partnerships to continue working on previously established network of sites and data.

Ms. Yepsen referenced the Pinelands Commission report "Vulnerability and Comparability of Natural and Created Wetlands" as a successful example of developing guidance and training on the creation of resilient coastal and freshwater wetlands. Ms. Yepsen said the state has been active in funding, management and monitoring of wetland restoration projects.

In her overview of core element 4, Ms. Yepsen remarked on the new WatershedNJ Wetland Function Project, a planning tool that looks at water quality and watersheds and offers a functional data layer to identify water quality improvement.

Ms. Yepsen reviewed the four climate change element objectives of core element 5 and the strategic use of grant funding to increase carbon sequestration focus. She said the NJDEP has partnered with Rowan University on a NJ Carbon Flux in Non-tidal Wetlands Pilot project.

Regarding public outreach and education, she said there is a focus on reaching underserved groups and individuals including tribal and overburdened communities (OBC) with additional workshops and training opportunities for the public. Ms. Yepsen noted NJDEP's objective to ensure equitable access to the benefits provided by wetlands to all and to incorporate environmental justice in all wetland-related efforts.

Mr. Procopio emphasized that there is no commitment to accomplishing all the suggested activities and that they are provided to demonstrate areas of focus and to enable prioritization.

Chair Matos opened the floor to questions.

Commissioner Lohbauer thanked Ms. Yepsen and Mr. Procopio for the presentation and for the new resources revealed in the presentation. He said the Pinelands Commission prioritizes wetlands protection and inquired, in general, how the state is doing to recognize and protect wetlands.

Ms. Yepsen said that NJ is doing well compared to other states. She said the state accepts responsibility for preserving wetlands and is setting regulations to protect them. She said there is a lot of work being done on monitoring and assessment. She noted that hurricane Sandy brought much attention to tidal wetlands and contributed to the building of the tidal wetlands monitoring network.

Commissioner Lohbauer, in reference to a presentation slide, inquired how the wetlands ecological integrity assessment was performed. Ms. Yepsen explained the rating system follows the EPA three-tiered monitoring assessment, including a GIS component, rapid assessment and in-depth assessment component. She said as applied, the rating system has green, yellow and red condition ratings, with green the better condition.

Commissioner Lohbauer commented on the slide's indication that restoration is needed in the urban corridor. Ms. Yepsen explained that the GIS assessment looked at the impact of land use on surrounding wetlands and at watersheds and found a high correlation to land use and wetland condition. Mr. Lohbauer asked if based on the slide representation, the Pinelands hosts the largest percentage of wetlands in the state. Ms. Yepsen said she couldn't confirm, however she noted the large amount of tidal wetlands along the coast.

Commissioner Lohbauer questioned whether the NJDEP relies on volunteer assistance and if they support volunteer participation in meeting the goals of the plan. Ms. Yepsen said they rely on partnerships with non-profit, academic and federal agencies that use volunteer support. Mr. Procopio added that the science programs do not involve many volunteers.

Mr. Procopio said there is a lot of active work in tidal wetlands as compared to freshwater wetlands. He asked Ms. Yepsen to provide an overview of the coordination and collaboration of the tidal wetlands monitoring network and how the same could be done in freshwater or interior wetlands areas.

Ms. Yepsen explained that multiple federal, state and academic organizations were all monitoring NJ tidal wetlands using the Mid-Atlantic Coastal Wetlands assessment, however

there was not a statewide assessment. She said the EPA encouraged building a network to pull the data together in 2018. She said the network was formalized in 2019, with eight core groups doing the monitoring and 15 or more groups participating in meetings. NJDEP was able to obtain federal funding as a result of having a statewide network of coastal sites.

Mr. Procopio said there is no similar network of monitoring for the interior part of the state. He suggested finding out who is actively doing research and building on that.

Commissioner Lohbauer said he is proud of the work of the Pinelands staff and that the Commission is always looking for ways to improve. He asked for suggestions for focus areas.

Mr. Procopio acknowledged Chief Scientist John Bunnell and the Pinelands Commission staff on the long-term monitoring of wetlands conditions. He said there is no match to it and emphasized the importance of the long-term record in defining wetland conditions over time. He said it is a great model to follow.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez said she agrees that NJ is doing a great job, especially in tidal wetlands. She inquired if in referring to the EPA, it was only including the estuary program.

Ms. Yepsen said the DEP works with the estuary program and with the grants management staff in EPA Region Two who have been involved and encouraged the development of the NJ Tidal Wetlands Monitoring Network.

Discussion followed on EPA Regions.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez requested detail on the work of the carbon sequestration project and what results they envision from the project. She asked if there will be metrics, goals or a usable tool for agencies to further define the importance of wetlands in relation to climate change.

Ms. Yepsen provided background information, explaining that while wetland scientists have a grasp of the carbon sequestration and carbon fluxes in tidal wetlands, they do not have the same information for non-tidal wetlands. She said there is a lot of debate regarding carbon sequestration in freshwater wetlands and the possible offset from their production of methane gas. She explained the intent to look at all the carbon related fluxes including methane, within forested wetlands.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez inquired about the project timeline.

Ms. Yepsen said they anticipate a final report in three years, following two years of data collection. She said that interim data reports could be expected.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez said she will be interested to see how temperature and precipitation play into the results. She asked how the data will be used.

Ms. Yepsen said they will have a report, and data will be made public online. She explained that

the data will be applied to ongoing carbon sequestration projects. She referenced the state's natural and working land strategy that identifies goals for enhancing carbon sequestration on natural working lands and noted one of the listed activities includes a greenhouse gas assessment. She said the intended application of the carbon sequestration factor to the natural and working land strategies will help to track how land use changes impact sequestered carbon. She emphasized the need to develop the factor for freshwater wetlands. She anticipated the greenhouse gas inventory project should be updated within the year. Ms. Yepsen mentioned that the project funded by the Natural Climate Solutions grant will be looking into net carbon sequestration.

Commissioner Avery asked what parameters were being monitored on tidal wetlands.

Ms. Yepsen said monitoring is a three-tiered assessment, including a GIS component, a rapid assessment and an in-depth assessment using the Mid-Atlantic Coastal Wetlands quality assessment protocol. She said numeric data is collected, such as surface elevation changes, accretion measurements, vegetation data, and soil cores.

Commissioner Avery referred to the Tidal Wetlands Act and inquired about the biggest threat to the tidal wetlands that were not already disturbed or developed. Ms. Yepsen identified the largest threats to tidal wetlands as sea level rise, disturbance of natural sediment flows and erosion.

Commissioner Avery inquired where dredge spoils have been used as a restoration technique. Ms. Yepsen responded that a handful of projects have been completed along the Delaware bayshore, Meadowlands and across the Atlantic coast. Commissioner Avery asked if they were still demonstration projects. Ms. Yepsen said they are heading out of the demonstration phase and becoming more routine. Commissioner Avery remarked on both the difficulty in getting the DEP to allow shoreline mitigation when there is erosion and in finding locations to deposit dredge materials. Ms. Yepsen said that projects were managed by federal or state agencies previously, but programs are now expanding.

Commissioner Avery inquired about the involvement of the Sports Authority in the studies. Ms. Yepsen said they have a strong research and conservation component and are now called the Meadowlands Restoration and Research Initiative.

Regarding assessment of freshwater wetlands for carbon sequestration, Commissioner Avery asked if a methane generation parameter is included. Ms. Yepsen said yes, they are looking at how methane production offsets the carbon sequestration.

Commissioner Avery inquired if the NJDEP has acquisition funds for tidal wetlands. Mr. Procopio said not within the science and research program. He mentioned NJDEP Green Acres and the Division of Fish and Wildlife as programs that participate in acquisition.

Ms. Yepsen said they are looking at mechanisms to determine areas that may become wetlands in the future and methods to maintain them for natural marsh transgression because of sea level rise.

Commissioner Avery inquired if freshwater wetlands affected by sea level rise become saltwater wetlands. Ms. Yepsen explained that it depends on the location and described salt marsh spread.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez inquired if the dredge spoil demonstration projects have shown an advantageous rate and depth of soil deposition. Ms. Yepsen said it depends on the site and location. Mr. Procopio added that continued monitoring is always important to help determine what is successful. He said the process is not simple. Ms. Yepsen commented that even and flat marsh topography is not best.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez inquired if there are enough firms in NJ with expertise in marsh restoration. Ms. Yepsen responded there are not.

Commissioner Irick said he was encouraged to see the Meadowlands included in discussion and wanted to emphasize that NJ has the most stringent wetland protection and methods of identifying wetlands in the nation. He asked if the objective to increase wetlands acreage in core elements 2 and 3 is relative to reclamation or to adjusting the definition of wetlands to include a wider view and the addition of certain indicative species.

Ms. Yepsen said she is not involved in the regulatory side but has not heard any discussion of expansion of definitions or adding species. Mr. Procopio said the goal is to gain, with no net loss.

Commissioner Irick inquired about the floodplain manager certification seminar as listed as an activity in the plan.

Ms. Yepsen said it was not within their department, but she could obtain more information and report back.

Commissioner Avery remarked on the accuracy of NJDEP wetlands mapping.

Discussion followed on accuracy of mapping, field-based assessment and NJDEP Bureau of GIS research.

Mr. Procopio said that no program uses the GIS wetlands as a regulatory line, but only as guidance. He said field assessment is the best method for locating wetlands.

Pinelands Chief Scientist John Bunnell commented, regarding prior discussion on volunteers, that some departments within the NJDEP might use volunteers more than others to match funding for some federal grants. He said the Commission has used those volunteers. He said one way to increase the wetlands area is with better mapping. He said that Commission mapping of 6,000 natural ponds, excavated ponds, and stormwater basins resulted in increasing known wetlands in the state.

Chair Matos thanked Ms. Yepsen and Mr. Procopio for the presentation.

4. Update on the Interagency Council on Climate Resilience: 2024 Annual Report

Attachment B to these minutes and posted on the Commission's website at the following address:

https://www.nj.gov/pinelands/home/presentations/NJ%20IAC%202024%20Annual%20Report%20Summary.pdf

Gina Berg, Director of Land Use Programs, presented the NJDEP's Interagency Council (IAC) on Climate Resilience 2024 Annual Report. She said the Interagency Council is a coordination and collaboration effort involving 26 member agencies, including Pinelands staff representatives.

Executive Director (ED) Sue Grogan remarked on the wide variety of agencies and missions bringing different perspectives to the climate resilience topic.

Ms. Berg said all agencies are engaged in some aspect of climate change work. She said the report includes six climate resilience priority areas and highlights 88 actions taken by the agencies in 2024. She said projects are developed through the IAC work plan and include the collaborative activities of established work groups. Ms. Berg provided an overview of the six priority objective areas.

She reviewed the resilient and healthy communities priority, highlighting the NJPACT REAL rules from NJDEP and the State Hazard Mitigation Plan through the New Jersey Office of Emergency Management (NJOEM). She remarked that Emergency Management has a more immediate objective when dealing with climate change impacts compared to the long-term objectives of other agencies. She said all the listed projects address creating climate resilient and healthy communities.

She reviewed the listed projects and the varying agencies reported under the priority to strengthen ecosystem resilience. She presented the Pinelands projects listed in the IAC annual report, including implementation of the water management (K-C) rule amendment, the Pinelands Management Area vulnerability assessment, as suggested by the Climate Committee, and the Pinelands Conservation Fund (PCF) land acquisition priorities. She noted that the PCF project evaluation matrix includes factors for both climate and environmental justice priorities.

Ms. Berg said the report looks at projects that promote coordinated governance. She reviewed the report's objective to invest in information and public understanding. She said the NJDEP and NJ Department of Education have the largest role in that area.

She continued to outline the report objectives, including the promotion of climate-informed investments and innovative financing. She said the Pinelands Infrastructure Master Plan might be considered in that objective in the future. She reviewed the coastal resilience plan and funding to the 5-year Coastal Management Program and tidal wetland monitoring and assessment.

Ms. Berg highlighted takeaways and next steps. She remarked on the level of coordination and commitment of all agencies involved.

ED Grogan said the active participation of small agencies like the Commission, is a large effort and time-consuming challenge, she said there are many meetings and assignments to undertake. Ms. Berg suggested it would be beneficial to have a dedicated point person for the Commission to participate in the IAC.

Ms. Berg reviewed activities that intersect with the Commission's projects and goals, including open space acquisition, funding for stormwater resilience programs and infrastructure. She said

other next steps in terms of climate science could include watershed improvement plans, working with municipalities in a role other than reviewing master plan amendments, and the Commission's continued role in conformance.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez remarked that the link to join the mailing list for the IAC was not functioning. She said, regarding community planning for resilience, most participants were government agencies except for the NJ Division of Banking and Insurance (NJDOBI), which she noted has a good link to outside entities. She said banking and insurance is going to be very important moving forward. Ms. Berg responded that their project included in the report is financing for private work.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez inquired if NJDOBI has an action plan. Ms. Berg explained that the report is provided on completed work for 2024 and does not include a future workplan.

Commissioner Rittler Sanchez commented that there needs to be more private sector focus on insurance and financing of communities and development projects to get them more involved. She noted the importance of insurance, financing and taxation to plan implementation. ED Grogan said funding is essential.

Commissioner Lohbauer inquired if the Commission could collaborate with the Highlands Council for a dedicated staff member for the IAC.

ED Grogan said perhaps collaboration could help in gaining staff resources.

Commissioner Lohbauer said the Pinelands Commission has a great education program led by Joel Mott, Public Programs Specialist. He suggested seeking state support to spread awareness of the Pinelands Programs outside of the region.

ED Grogan said Mr. Mott has worked with Stockton University on programs and curriculum development. Paul Leakan, Communication Officer, said the Commission has a full education schedule for the number of staff. Ms. Grogan said it is beneficial to have the education curriculum and climate change topic brought to the local level so children can make the connection to their own homes and communities. She acknowledged that the Commission does that through its education resources.

Commissioner Avery inquired of NJDEP representatives if they work with the NJ Mosquito Commission.

Ms. Yepsen said she is aware of the Edwin B. Forsythe National Wildlife Refuge partnership with the mosquito commission in their wetland restoration projects.

Commissioner Avery said he favored a more naturalistic approach to mosquito control.

5. Public Comment

There was no public comment.

6. Adjournment

There being no other business, Commissioner Lohbauer moved to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Rittler Sanchez seconded the motion. All voted in favor. The meeting was adjourned at 11:01 a.m.

Date: April 4, 2025

Certified as true and correct:

Lori a. Luddell

Lori Friddell

Land Use Programs Technical Assistant